
SENT AS EMAIL ATTACHMENT FROM [kwesthue@uwaterloo.ca] TO [aherlovitch@niagarafalls.ca], 
with copies to Mayor Diodati and Members of Council, also to Alfred DSouza and John Pinter 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
5419 River Road 
Niagara Falls, Ontario L2E 3H1 
 
1 May 2017 
 
Mr. Alex Herlovitch 
Director of Planning, Building, & Development 
City of Niagara Falls, Ontario 
 
Dear Mr. Herlovitch: 
 
This letter is to report and register a formal complaint about an egregious violation of our city’s 
Zoning By-law 79-200, and of related municipal and provincial land-use regulations. Please confirm 
your receipt of this letter and forward it to whichever city staff have responsibility to investigate 
the violation reported here and see to its prompt correction. 
 
We address this letter to you because you had major involvement in Council’s passage of Official 
Plan Amendment 116 and By-law 2015-51, which allows John Pinter’s property at 5359 River Road 
to be used as an inn with a maximum of 12 guest rooms. We have read online your letter of 5 June 
2015 in this regard to Jennifer Vida of Upper Canada Consultants. 
 
We supported Mr. Pinter’s application for that amendment and spoke in favour of it at a meeting 
at City Hall. It was our view that Mr. Pinter’s plan to renovate and enlarge the building would not 
do significant further damage to the residential character of this neighbourhood, beyond the 8 
guest rooms that had been approved since 2001. We admired, moreover, Mr. Pinter’s respect for 
our city’s history, his plan to retain the building’s original architecture in the additions to be made, 
and his pledge to maintain high standards in his operation of the inn. 
 
Our complaint does not concern the property at 5359 River Road, except in so far as Mr. Pinter has 
illegally broadened what Council approved in 2015, applying it to an additional dwelling he has 
gained control of, namely the house at 5411 River Road, adjacent to of our own home. 
 
Background 
 
The property at 5411 River Road, like ours and almost all others in this neighbourhood, is zoned 
R2, residential. It was owner-occupied when we bought our own home in 2010. Since late 2012, it 
has been occupied by tenants, legally so far as we know, and our relations with them have been 
cordial. So have our relations with the owners, Alfred and Collette DSouza, who live in Markham. 
 
Mr. DSouza informed us six weeks ago, on 15 March, when we were still at our condo in Florida, 
that “we have leased our house to Mr. John Pinter who runs the B&B on River Road and we 
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believe he knows Ken. Mr. Pinter has assured us that he will maintain our property and its 
surroundings well and will keep our neighbours happy.” 
 
What we have found since our return from Florida is that Mr. Pinter is using this property in a way 
that is contrary to law, as an extension of his inn, now called Grandview Manor, at 5359 River 
Road. Please find as an appendix to this letter screenshots of his advertisement on the Grandview 
Manor website of the house at 5411 River Road. He has named it “Niagara Riverview Inn“ and 
described it as including three bedrooms and “Complimentary Breakfast.” Guests who stay at 
5411 River Road apparently walk up the street to eat at 5359 River Road. 
 
Since our return from Florida, we have observed that the house at 5411 River Road is being used 
as “a commercial establishment catering to the needs of the traveling or vacationing public by 
supplying overnight accommodation” – this is how By-law 2015-51 defines an inn. The cars parked 
in the driveway have had license plates from Ontario, Virginia, Michigan, Quebec, and elsewhere. 
We have observed people staying in the house walking up toward Grandview Manor for breakfast. 
 
A check of reservations on the Grandview Manor website shows that the “Niagara Riverview Inn” 
is unavailable for many dates during the coming tourist season, which leads us to believe that the 
property is actively being rented to tourists. 
 
We are aware that Council has directed city staff to prepare a policy on vacation rentals. We are 
glad for that, and look forward to introduction of a fair and effective policy. The present 
complaint, however, does not rely on any possible new by-law, but on existing by-laws. The 
property at 5411 River Road is being openly used for no other purpose than a commercial one. It is 
a business, an inn, a mini-hotel. This is contrary to law because it is zoned R2, assessed and taxed 
as a residential property, and not subject to any fire or health regulations that apply to tourist 
accommodations. No matter how well or poorly the business is run, it is still illegal. That is why we 
are reporting this violation to you, and asking prompt remedial action. 
 
Other apparent violations of municipal and provincial law 
 
The use for which 5359 River Road has been approved, namely as an inn, may include the 
provision of food, according to By-law 2015-50. We believe it is therefore entirely legal for Mr. 
Pinter to serve breakfast to his guests at 5359 River Road, but only to those guests. The by-law 
states explicitly that a restaurant is not a permitted use. It is therefore illegal for Grandview Manor 
to provide food to others. Providing breakfast to guests lodged at 5411 River Road, the “Niagara 
Riverview Inn” is therefore illegal in a second way. These guests are not only sleeping illegally but 
eating illegally. Mr. Pinter is in effect operating Grandview Manor as a restaurant. 
 
The use to which 5411 River Road is being put is also likely in violation of Ontario’s Residential 
Tenancies Act, which provides in Section 134.3.a that “no tenant and no person acting on behalf of 
the tenant shall, directly or indirectly, sublet a rental unit for a rent that is payable by one or more 
subtenants and that is greater than the rent that is lawfully charged by the landlord for the rental 
unit.” If the moneys paid to Mr. Pinter by his guests exceed the money paid by Mr. Pinter to the 
DSouzas, this would appear to be a clear violation of the Residential Tenancies Act. 
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Although we know from Mr. DSouza that he has been aware from the start that Mr. Pinter intends 
to use 5411 River Road for a commercial purpose, we are unsure to what extent legal culpability 
for the violations of law involved in the current use of this property rests with the DSouzas, and to 
what extent with Mr. Pinter. What matters to us is that the illegal use of this property cease 
forthwith, and that it be returned to the residential use for which it is zoned, the use it was put to 
until now, since long before we moved here in 2010. 
 
Finally, a glance at the Grandview Manor website shows that this business appears to be 
accommodating tourists and travellers at additional properties zoned R2 in this immediate 
neighbourhood. The report and complaint in this letter, however, concerns only 5411 River Road, 
the property immediately adjacent to our home. This is the property that we know most about 
and whose use affects us most directly. 
 
Addresses 
 
The city should have from its tax records the mailing addresses of both the DSouzas and Mr. 
Pinter. The postal address we have for Mr. DSouza is: 9 Ramona Blvd. Markham ON, L3P 7T9. The 
postal address we have for Mr. Pinter is: 3490 Cardinal Dr, Niagara Falls ON, L2H2X3. 
 
Conclusion 
 
We regret having to make this complaint. When Alfred and Collette DSouza took possession of 
5411 River Road in 2012, we welcomed them to this neighbourhood, and we have maintained 
friendly relations with them. When Mr. Pinter took possession of 5359 River Road in 2014, 
intending – so we thought – to operate the property as a B&B, we took him a potted plant as a 
gesture of welcome, and we have supported his imaginative overhaul of that property. 
 
Both the DSouzas and Mr. Pinter are aware, however, that we cannot accept any illegal use of the 
property next door to our home, and that we are intent on maintaining this residential 
neighbourhood in keeping with the Official Plan and relevant by-laws. As a gesture of good will, 
and toward maintaining friendly relations, we are copying this letter by email to them. We are also 
copying Mayor Diodati and members of Council. 
 
Thank you for your attention to this letter, and for all your work on behalf of this city. We will be 
glad to provide further information, and look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

       
Kenneth and Anne Westhues 
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